IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,795

STANDARD HAVENS PRODUCTS, INC.,

Appellant,

vs.

FERNANDO BENITEZ and ALINA BENITEZ, his wife,

Appellees.

On Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THORNTON, DAVID, MURRAY, DAVIS THORNTON & SREENAN, P.A. BY: KATHLEEN M. O'CONNOR Florida Bar No. 333761 Attorneys for STANDARD HAVENS PRODUCTS 2950 Southwest 27th Avenue Suite 100, Grove Professional Bldg. Miami, Florida 33133-3704 Telephone: (305) 446-2646 Facsimile: (305) 441-2374

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Fernando Benitez ("Benitez") was injured on the job when he stepped into a moving auger while inside an Alpha/Mark III baghouse manufactured by Standard Havens Products, Inc. ("Standard Havens"). This product liability action was commenced by Plaintiffs, Appellants, Fernando Benitez and Alina Benitez, in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida. $(R1-2-6-14)^1$ The plaintiffs sued Standard Havens Products, Inc., the manufacturer of a product known as the Alpha Mark III Baghouse, alleging negligence, breach of warranty and strict liability.

Defendant, Standard Havens, removed the case to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. (R1-2) Standard Havens answered, denying the material allegations of the complaint, raised affirmative defenses and filed a Third Party Complaint against Community Asphalt, Benitez's employer. (R1-5) The Third Party Complaint was based upon a contract between Standard Havens and Community Asphalt, whereby Community Asphalt agreed to indemnify Standard Havens for any claims brought against Standard Havens in connection with the installation, erection or start up of Standard Havens' product. (R1-5-8)

After extensive discovery was undertaken, the case proceeded to a five-day trial before the Honorable James C. Paine. At the

¹ Record references are to the record transmitted by the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. References to the documents in the court file are to the volume, document number and page number, i.e. R-1-1-1; references to the trial transcript are to the volume and page number, i.e. R2-1.

close of the plaintiffs' evidence, Standard Havens moved for a directed verdict, which was denied. (R11-493) Standard Havens' renewed motion for directed verdict at the close of all the evidence was also denied. (R12-753)

During the jury charge conference, Standard Havens objected to a specific portion of the verdict form dealing with the defense of misuse. The verdict form contained question number three, which stated:

Did Fernando Benitez knowingly misuse the Alpha Mark III baghouse in a manner for which the product was not made and not foreseeable to the Defendant which was a legal cause of his injury?

Standard Havens argued that if the jury answered "yes" to that question, then there would be a verdict for Standard Havens on the claims for negligence and strict liability.

[Attorney for Standard Havens] If you look at question number 3, on misuse, it doesn't tell the jury what to do if they answer it no, or yes.

[The Court] Well, I don't think we need to tell them that.

[Attorney for Standard Havens] If they answer it no, it is a verdict for the [plaintiff]. If they answer, yes, there was misuse, it was a verdict for the [defendant].

[Plaintiff's attorney] Not on negligence.

[The Court] It is a verdict for the defendant on the claim of strict liability.

[Attorney for Standard Havens] I believe it would apply to both.

[The Court] No, I don't think so.

(R13-797)

The jury returned a verdict in which it found that there was negligence on the part of the Defendant, Standard Havens and that the product was defective. The jury also found that plaintiff knowingly misused the product in a manner unforeseeable to the manufacturer and that there was negligence on the part of the The jury ascribed seventy percent of the fault to plaintiff. Standard Havens and thirty percent to Benitez. The jury also found, in regard to the indemnity claim, that the percentage of fault attributable to installation, erection or start up of the product was zero. The jury assessed damages for Fernando Benitez in the amount of \$1,500,000 and for Alina Benitez in the amount of \$250,000. (R8-160) A final judgment was entered in favor of the plaintiffs in the amount of \$1,050,000 for Fernando Benitez and \$175,000 for Alina Benitez, and in favor of Community Asphalt on the third party complaint. (R8-163)

Standard Havens filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or, in the alternative for new trial, and/or for remittitur. (R8-164) The motions were denied. (R5-202) An appeal ensued to the United States Court of Appeal for the Eleventh Circuit.² The Eleventh Circuit held that under Florida law, the plaintiff's unforeseeable misuse of Standard Havens' product barred recovery on plaintiff's strict liability claim. Benitez v. Standard Havens Products, Inc., 7 F.3d 1561 (11th Cir. 1993). The

² Standard Havens subsequently dismissed its appeal as to the third party defendant, Community Asphalt.

Eleventh Circuit also certified to this Court the following question:

Does a plaintiff's knowing misuse of a product in a manner neither intended nor foreseeable by the defendant manufacturer bar recovery, as a matter of law, on a products liability claim sounding in negligence.

The Eleventh Circuit stated that it did "not intend the particular phrasing of this question to limit consideration of the problems posed by the entire case. The [Florida Supreme] Court is at liberty to consider the problems and issues involved in this case as it perceives them to be." 7 F.3d at 1565.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Fernando Benitez was injured on the job on June 5, 1987 when his leg was caught and partially amputated in a moving auger located in a baghouse manufactured by Standard Havens. Benitez was employed by Community Asphalt, which manufactured hot asphalt mixes. (R9-190) It operated a plant in Pembroke Pines, Florida, where the accident in question occurred. (R9-190) At the time of the accident, Benitez was the supervisor of the plant. (R9-239, 240)

The Asphalt Plant and Baghouse

A baghouse is a pollution control device, which operates like a giant vacuum cleaner. The State of Florida Department of Environmental Resources required a baghouse to control emissions from Community Asphalt's plant. (R9-191) The asphalt plant is a horizontal drum mixer in which hot gases are blown through to dry sand and crushed stone. Once the sand and stone are hot and dry,

liquid asphalt is added to it to produce asphalt. As the aggregates are dried, dust and products of combustion are produced. Without any type of pollution control device, these elements would be released through a stack into the atmosphere. (R10-229)

Standard Havens' Alpha Mark III Baghouse contains rows of fourteen foot long fabric bags suspended from the ceiling on which the dust from the plant is collected. (R11-541) As hot, dust laden gases come into the baghouse, they disperse and a fan pulls the gases through the baghouse. The dust adheres to the outside of the bags. Periodically the bags must be cleaned through a pulsing process. (R11-541) (R10-230-232) When the bags are "pulsed," jets of air come down from the top of the baghouse into the bags which expands them, causing the dust to fall off into a v-shaped hopper area below. (R10-295) At the bottom of the hopper is a screw conveyor, or augur, which is approximately thirty feet long. (R11-520) The auger moves the dust to a point where it is blown through pipes that run back to the drum, where the dust becomes part of the asphalt mix again. (R10-230-232) The baghouse does not contain any interior lighting system. (R10 - 312)

Standard Havens provided a protective screen to cover the auger, or screw conveyor. The screen was developed to protect the auger from falling debris and in particular to prevent the fabric bags, which fall occasionally, from jamming the auger. (R11-539) The screen contains large openings, approximately four inches square, to allow the dust that is pulsed from the bags to pass into the screw conveyor. (R11-555) Jack Clements, who was the senior

design engineer at Standard Havens when the Alpha Mark III Baghouse was designed, testified that the large openings in the screen were designed to prevent "bridging," or dust collection, which would occur if the openings were smaller. (R11-555)

The baghouse is not a work area. (R11-559) In order to prevent casual access, the door to enter the baghouse was located approximately eight feet off the ground. (R11-548) It was, therefore, impossible to enter the baghouse without climbing up a ladder. (R10-320) Jack Clements testified that the entry door was located eight feet off the ground in compliance with standards of the American National Standards Institute ("ANSI"). In particular, the 1976 ANSI standards applicable to screw conveyors provided for guarding of the conveyors and included a provision for "Guarded by Location or Position," which provided that:

This means that the moving parts are so protected by their remoteness from the floor, platform, walkway, or other working level, or by their location with reference to frame, foundation, or structure as to remove the foreseeable risk of accidental contact by persons or objects. Remoteness from foreseeable, regular, or frequent presence of public or employed personnel may in reasonable circumstances constitute guarding by location.

Section 5.09.2.1 of the standards provides that:

In order to be guarded by location or position, all moving parts which require guarding to protect employees against hazards shall be at least 7 feet (2.14m) above the walkway, roadway, or walking surface or otherwise located so that employees cannot come in contact with the hazardous moving parts while in their workplace station.

(R11-558)

In addition to guarding by location, away from the work area, when the baghouse was operational, Standard Havens provided (through its Operations and Maintenance Manual) for a lockout procedure to protect workers from injury during maintenance (or nonoperational) periods. The manual, in accordance with applicable ANSI standards, instructed workers to de-energize equipment before working on it and put a padlock, or tag, on the controls at the motor control center so that the equipment could not be inadvertently started by another worker. (R11-549-550, 560)

A ladder was not furnished by Standard Havens as part of the baghouse equipment. (R11-548) A ladder was installed by Community Asphalt after erection of the baghouse was completed. (R10-320) The end of the baghouse closest to the inspection door is the "discharge end," where the air lock is located and the dust comes out of the baghouse. (R10-250) The screw conveyor rests on bearings and runs along the bottom of the baghouse, for a length of nearly thirty feet. When the plant and baghouse are operating, the fan in the baghouse creates a great deal of suction, which makes it difficult to open the inspection door. (R10-300) The hot gases in the baghouse are normally about 350 degrees Fahrenheit, and the fan causes the dust to fly around. (R10-310) Mike Garfer, Senior Vice President of Community Asphalt and Benitez' supervisor, testified that no one would be in the baghouse under those circumstances. (R10-310) Garfer testified that there was no point in having a light in the bag house when no one would be in there because of the heat and flying dust. (R10-328)

<u>Assembly and Operation of the Baghouse at</u> <u>Community Asphalt</u>

Mike Garfer of Community Asphalt testified at trial about the assembly and operation of the baghouse. Community Asphalt purchased the baghouse from Standard Havens, and pursuant to the contract between the parties, Standard Havens delivered the components of the baghouse with drawings, and Community Asphalt assembled the baghouse. (R10-219-220) The contract also provided for technical assistance from Standard Havens in the installation, erection and start up of the baghouse. (R10-219-222)

The plans furnished to Community Asphalt by Standard Havens included Drawing K2111775, which indicated that the baghouse components included seven sections of protective screening. (R10-263) The drawing also contained the following notation:

The screen assembly is designed for protection of the screw conveyor from foreign object damage. It is not to be used as a walking surface unless adequate temporary planking is used to cover the screen.

(R10-264)

The contract documents between Community Asphalt and Standard Havens provided that the protective screening would extend the length of the auger. (R10-286) The drawings furnished by Standard Havens provided that the screen assemblies were to rest on the hopper side wall angles and were to be slid into place. (R10-308) If the screens had been put in place with a two inch gap between each of the screen segments, the screen would have covered the entire length of the auger. (R11-564) When the screen assembly was put in place by Community Asphalt without the two-inch gaps,

it covered the auger, except for approximately 15 inches at the end. (R10-285) This fact was never brought to the attention of anyone at Standard Havens by Community Asphalt. (R10-285)

The baghouse began operation in January of 1987. (R10-312) A section of protective screening was removed on the first day the baghouse was put into operation. The section of the screen closest to the discharge end had been lifted by dust, and when it came down it was jammed into the air lock device. (R10-251-252) Community Asphalt removed that section of the protective screening. (R10-254)

Benitez' Training and Knowledge of Safety Procedures

The baghouse began operation on January 9, 1987. (R10-312) Fernando Benitez was first employed by Community Asphalt in February of 1987. (R10-239) He was made plant operator approximately one month prior to his accident. (R11-433) Benitez was trained for his job as plant operator by three Community Asphalt employees, including Mike Garfer. (R11-434) As part of his training, Benitez testified that Garfer described to him the operation of the baghouse and exactly how things worked. (R11-435)

According to Garfer an operation and maintenance manual for the Alpha Mark III baghouse was received by Community Asphalt at least a couple of months prior to Benitez' accident. (R10-272)³ In regard to safety procedures, the manual provided:

³ Standard Havens' shipping documents showed that two complete manuals were shipped to Garfer by DHL on December 3, 1986, a month before the baghouse began operation. (R12-664)

Safety first. Most accidents are caused by maintenance or operational errors. Several simple rules can prevent injury and suffering.

1. Do not work on energized equipment. Always deenergize all power supplies, and tag men working on equipment.

2. Always operate equipment with all guards and safety equipment functioning.

3. Never attempt to clean, oil, adjust any machine while it is in motion.

4. Avoid entering baghouse when there are noxious gases, or high temperatures inside.

(R10-275) Garfer testified that the manual was available to Benitez as plant operator. (R10-272) Although Benitez agreed that it would be good common sense to read the manual before working on equipment he was unfamiliar with, he testified that he never read the manual for the baghouse. (R11-443)

According to Garfer all Community Asphalt employees were instructed that whenever they needed to work on motorized equipment they were supposed to go to the motor control center, throw the circuit breaker, and place a lock on it. (R10-276-277) This was known as the "lockout procedure." The baghouse could be locked out entirely, or individual components, such as the fan or the screw conveyor could be locked out. Community Asphalt provided its employees with padlocks for that purpose. (R10-277) According to Garfer, no one at Community Asphalt felt that it was alright to go inside the baghouse with the auger operating. (R10-291) Garfer testified that if Benitez was going to enter the baghouse to check on something, he would be expected to lock out the screw conveyor before doing so. (R10-299) As part of his training to become

plant operator, Benitez was specifically instructed on the lockout procedure. (R10-278) Benitez testified that prior to his accident he knew that he should lock out equipment before he did any work in or near it. (R11-472) Benitez also testified that he knew the purpose of the lockout procedure was for safety and that the procedure applied to all equipment, including the baghouse. (R11-473)

The Accident

Benitez testified that on the date of the accident, June 5, 1987, the plant had been shut down at the end of the day. He went into the baghouse in preparation for changing the bags the next He noticed that there was dust on the walls. (R11-438-439, day. 475) Benitez decided to clean the walls. Garfer testified that there was no operational or maintenance reason to remove dust from the walls of the baghouse. (R10-301) Jack Clements, who was Standard Havens' senior design engineer at the time the Alpha Mark III baghouse was developed, testified that dust typically collected on the walls of the baghouse, but that did not pose any problem in regard to operation of the baghouse. (R11-546) On the date of the accident, Benitez advised Garfer that he intended to go into the baghouse to clean the walls. (R10-302) Garfer told Benitez that it was unnecessary. (R10-303) Garfer testified that it was "unsafe" to enter the baghouse with the auger on and it never crossed his mind that Benitez would do it. (R10-303)

Prior to entering the baghouse, Benitez testified that he locked out all the circuit breakers except for the auger. (R11-

440) He deliberately turned the auger on. (R11-475) He stated that he covered his mouth and nose with a rag, climbed up the ladder and went into the baghouse with a rake. (R11-439-440)

When he entered the baghouse, the first thing Benitez noticed was that a piece of protective screening, immediately inside the door, was missing, and the moving auger was exposed. (R11-444, 476) He stepped over the auger where the piece of screen was missing and stood on the first section of screening. (R11-444, 477) The auger was operating and the blades were spinning beneath the screen. (R11-446) Benitez faced the wall, put the rake above his head and pulled the dust down toward him. (R11-446, 480) In regard to visibility, Benitez testified that, "It was dim, very dim. You could hardly see." (R11-447, 448) He continued raking and stepping to his left. (R11-447) Benitez testified that when he reached the end, he stepped down and felt a lot of pain and the auger was pulling him down. (R11-447) His leg was partially amputated and he now wears a prosthesis. He returned to work about five months after the accident and at the time of trial was doing the same job as before the accident. (R11-445)

The Expert Testimony

Plaintiff's expert, John B. Schroering was an engineer, specializing in mechanical and safety engineering. (R10-330) In regard to the Alpha Mark III Baghouse, Schroering, on direct examination, gave three opinions, without explanation or elaboration. First, the auger was not properly guarded. Second, there was no "interlock" on the door to the baghouse. An interlock

is a switch that would deactivate all equipment when the door was opened. (R10-340) Third, there was no warning in regard to the condition of the baghouse. (R10-340)

On cross-examination Schroering conceded that during operation, the baghouse was guarded by its location:

A. [Schroering] Well, when it is operating, you can't get in it anyway, as I understand because of the high temperature, and environmental conditions, and the negative pressure of opening the door. Certainly, when it is off --

Q. [Attorney for Standard Havens] No, I am speaking when it is on.

A. No one is likely to be in there.

Q. Right, during that phase, it is guarded by its location, is it not, from a practical matter?

A. You could say that, yes.

(R10 - 352)

As to Standard Havens' lock out procedure, Schroering's only objection to it was that it was not "fail safe." When asked about the procedure, Schroering conceded that a lock out procedure had a lot of merit:

Q. Lock out is one of the best methods to protect individuals from injury?

A. It is a method. I wouldn't say it is the best. I wouldn't approve it as best.

Q. Well, you say you wouldn't say that that was the best, but in the order of safety devices, isn't the lock out system recognized as the first system that you should employ in order to protect people during maintenance periods?

A. That is a system to use, yes.

Q. And that is the one primarily talked about by people in the industry, is it not?

A. ANSI put out a brand new standard on lock out procedure. I am not faulting a lock out procedure. It has a lot of merit.

(R10-355)

In regard to his opinion that the lock out was not "fail safe" Schroering testified:

A. The method you provide for locking out isn't fail safe.

The method you describe for locking out, telling somebody to put a padlock on is not a fail safe method.

Q. If people do put a padlock on it, and de-energize it, there is no way that they would come in contact with a moving auger. You agree with that?

A. Yes.

Q. If you talk about a[n] interlock system. If somebody is deliberately intending to go inside the baghouse with the auger operating, it is always possible to bypass an interlock system, is it not?

A. You are talking about like a switch on the access door?

Q. Sure.

A. It is possible to bypass it, yes.

(R10-353)

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