IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,795

STANDARD HAVENS PRODUCTS, INC.,

Appellant,

vs.

FERNANDO BENITEZ and ALINA BENITEZ, his wife,

Appellees.

	FILED SID J. WHITE									
	MAR 80 1994									
-	CLERK, SUPREME COURT									
	ByChief Deputy Clerk									

On Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

G. William Bissett, Esq. HARDY, BISSETT & LIPTON, P.A. P.O. BOX 9700 Miami, FL 33131-9700 (305) 358-6200

-and-

Donald T. Norton, Esq. COHEN & COHEN, P.A. 2525 North State Road 7 (441) Hollywood, FL 33021-3206 (305) 983-7100

Attorneys for Appellees Fernando Benitez and Alina Benitez

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

Standard Havens is not entitled to entry of a judgment in its favor as a matter of law. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to plaintiffs, the trial court properly denied Standard Havens' post trial motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, rejecting the argument that it was "not negligent as a matter of law" and/or that "Fernando Benitez' negligence was the sole proximate cause of his injuries."

The evidence established that the existence of a 12" to 18" opening in the screen panels placed above the auger located in the bottom of the v-shaped baghouse hopper constituted an unreasonably dangerous condition and a zone of risk as to all workers who utilized the screen panels as a walking surface during contemplated inspection and maintenance procedure. The evidence further

¹⁵ We recognize that most of Standard Havens' arguments and the Eleventh Circuit's opinion itself focus on a products liability claim based upon a negligence theory alone. However, it must not be overlooked by the Court: (1) that the final judgment entered in this case did not specify whether it was based upon plaintiffs' negligence theory, plaintiffs' strict products liability theory, or both; and (2) that the record contains no written order entering a judgment notwithstanding the verdict for Standard Havens on the strict products liability cause of action. Thus, this Court must analyze the liability issues raised on this appeal with reference to <u>both</u> negligence and strict products liability cases of action. Standard Havens apparently recognized this procedural shortcoming in its initial brief to the Eleventh Circuit. (IB in 11th Cir. at 23 n.2).

established that the faulty design and inadequate erection plans for the baghouse created this dangerous condition. Indeed, Standard Havens' own attorney conceded to the jury in his closing that "[i]t shouldn't have been there [the opening], no doubt about it."

The evidence additionally established that only a few simple inexpensive changes in Standard Havens' existing design and baghouse erection plans would have caused the entire length of the auger mechanism to be physically guarded so as to provide a safe walking surface. Those recommended design changes were technologically feasible, very inexpensive, and would not have affected the operational performance of the baghouse itself.

Given the totality of the evidence in this case, the jury was certainly entitled to conclude under Florida law that Standard Havens' negligence and its defective and unreasonably dangerous product were a contributing legal cause of plaintiff's accident and Similarly, the jury was entitled to conclude that injuries. plaintiff's negligence and product misuse were only a contributing, not the sole legal cause of his accident and injuries. Plaintiff did not lock out the auger because he was not working on it, because he felt it was fully guarded and therefore "perfectly safe," and because he wanted it operating in order to remove from the baghouse the layers of dust buildup he was scraping off the As the trial court aptly observed, plaintiff "went in walls. there, the way it sounds to me if I were a juror, in a very conscientious way to do a job to make this work right."

It is undisputed that Standard Havens' negligence and its defective design and erection plans resulted in the existence of a 12" to 18" opening in the walking surface inside the baghouse. The existence of this opening created a generalized zone of risk to all maintenance workers inside the baghouse. For purposes of establishing causation, the precise manner in which plaintiff's accident occurred and the mere fact that the auger was operating at the time of his inadvertent contact with it does not eliminate liability. For liability to arise under Florida law is only necessary that "the tortfeasor be able to see that some injury will likely result in some manner as a consequence of his negligent acts." The plaintiff here encountered the specific product condition which arose by virtue of Standard Havens' negligence and inadequate design and erection plans -- the 12" to 18" opening in the protective screen panels. It makes no legal difference that plaintiff encountered a rotating auger when his foot stepped through the 12" to 18" opening, as opposed to his merely tripping, being cut, or otherwise sustaining some lesser type of injury. Causation is still sufficiently established.

II.

Standard Havens' alternative argument that so-called "unforeseeable product misuse" is an absolute defense to both strict products liability and negligence claims under all circumstances is contrary to Florida law. In support of its misuse argument, Standard Havens asserts "that if the equipment [auger] had been locked out ... this accident could not have occurred." By

the same token, if Standard Havens had not distributed a defectively designed and unreasonably dangerous product with inadequate erection plans which directly led to the existence of a 12" to 18" opening in the walking surface covering the auger, then plaintiff would not have <u>encountered any hazard</u> and sustained <u>any injuries</u>, regardless of whether he followed the lockout procedure. Thus, this Court is simply confronted with a typical claim involving comparative fault or causation.

The principles set forth in Florida's "Comparative Fault" Act accordingly govern. In that Act, our legislature decreed that in strict products liability and negligence actions seeking recovery of damages for personal injuries "any contributory fault chargeable to the claimant diminishes proportionately the amount awarded ... but does not bar recovery." \$768.81(2), Fla. Stat. (1987). The instant case, which involves comparative causation or comparative fault is to be distinguished from those authorities relied upon by Standard Havens, wherein the plaintiff's comparative fault in the nature of "unforeseeable misuse" either created the product defect in the first instance or constituted the sole proximate cause of the accident. The instant case is distinctly different. Here the jury properly found that: (1) the product was defective and unreasonably dangerous; (2) the defendant was negligent; (3) the defective product condition and the manufacturer's negligence were both "a" contributing legal cause of plaintiff's accident; and (4) the plaintiff's product misuse and contributory fault likewise constituted only "a" legal cause of the accident, not its "sole"

cause.

In such circumstances, where both the manufacturer's negligence and product defect and the plaintiff's misuse combine to cause the damaging event, recovery will not be barred but will be proportionately limited. See, General Motors Corp. v. Hopkins, 548 SW.2d 344 (Tex. 1977). Florida courts have previously determined that a product user's contributory fault includes within its scope acts in the nature of product misuse. Being a form of contributory fault, product misuse should only be utilized "in determining the apportionment of the negligence of the manufacturer of the alleged product and the negligence of the consumer." <u>Auburn Mach. Works</u> Co., Inc. v. Jones, 366 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 1979).

Here, Standard Havens' negligent acts and omissions created the specific product condition and danger at issue -- a sizeable opening in the screen panels covering the auger screw, an opening which even its own attorney conceded "shouldn't have been there." The existence of that sizeable opening in the walking surface inside the baghouse constituted a potential hazard to workers who could trip and fall, get cut, or break bones. Plaintiff's contributory fault in leaving the auger operational simply acted in combination with an existing product defect of which he was unaware; such negligence by plaintiff was not the "sole" cause of the accident. Where, as here, an existing product defect combines with a claimant's misuse and results in an accident, an actionable products liability claim should be found to exist, and comparative negligence principles should then be applied to apportion causation

and the ultimate responsibility among all the participants. This is the only result which is consistent with Florida's Comparative Fault Statute and with the form of pure comparative fault recognized in this Court's own decisions.

ARGUMENT

Preface

In the argument to follow, we intend to demonstrate to the Court that the specific question certified by the Eleventh Circuit should not be answered as posed. We submit that the Eleventh Circuit's narrow phrasing of the question certified fails to attach any, much less the proper, significance to the various specific liability findings made by the jury in its verdict, which findings stand on an equal footing with the "misuse" finding.

The only appropriate phrasing of the question raised by the specific jury verdict findings on liability in this case is:

Does a jury finding of unforeseeable product misuse which is only "a," not the "sole," legal cause of a user's accident totally bar any recovery by the user, even though the same jury found the product was defective and unreasonably dangerous, the defendant manufacturer was negligent, and both the defect anð product the manufacturer's negligence were "a" legal cause contributing to the user's accident?

We intend to demonstrate that the question raised by this case, as rephrased, should be answered in the negative and that when the answer is applied to the facts here, the final money judgment entered for the plaintiffs should be affirmed. We will begin our discussion of the law and the facts by addressing the preliminary issue of whether the plaintiffs established a prima

facia products liability claim.

I.

COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE TRIAL STANDARD HAVENS' FOR MOTION ENTRY OF JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT WHERE THERE WAS SUFFICIENT COMPETENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S FINDING THAT STANDARD HAVENS WAS NEGLIGENT, THAT IT HAD PLACED INTO THE STREAM COMMERCE **A** DEFECTIVE AND UNREASONABLY OF DANGEROUS PRODUCT, AND THAT SUCH NEGLIGENCE AND PRODUCT DEFECT WERE A CONTRIBUTING LEGAL ACCIDENT CAUSE OF THE WHEREIN PLAINTIFF SUSTAINED INJURY.

(A)

Applicable Standard Of Review

In this products liability action, the trial court properly denied Standard Havens' motions for directed verdict and motion for entry of judgment notwithstanding the verdict. The competent evidence presented at trial established a prima facie case under theories of both strict products liability and negligence. Contrary to Standard Havens' assertion in this Court, the evidence did not "indisputably demonstrate" that the "baghouse was safe for its intended use," nor did it "indisputably demonstrate" that "the [sole] proximate cause of the accident ... was the plaintiff's misuse of the product." If one properly views the evidence in the case in the light most favorable to plaintiffs, then one will readily see Standard Havens' appellate position for what it really is - nothing more than "pure jury argument." The jury and the federal district court rejected the arguments. This Court should do likewise.

We will initiate our analysis of this argument point by

27

HARDY, BISSETT & LIPTON, P.A. • MAILING ADDRESS, P.O. BOX 9700, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33101-9700 SOI NORTHEAST FIRST AVENUE, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33132-1998 • MIAMI (305) 358-6200 • BROWARD (305) 462-6377 articulating several incontrovertible principles of appellate law which govern disposition of cases involving directed verdicts. First, it is not the function of an appellate court to re-evaluate or re-weigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the jury. <u>Helman v. Seaboard Coast Line R Co.</u>, 349 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1977). Second, if there is <u>any</u> competent evidence to support a verdict, that verdict must be sustained regardless of the district court's opinion as to its appropriateness. <u>Helman v.</u> <u>Seaboard Coast Line R Co.</u>, 349 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1977); <u>Florida East</u> <u>Coast RY Co. v. Shulman</u>, 481 So.2d 965, 967 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), and cases cited therein.

Moreover, it is fundamental that the evaluation of conflicting testimony is properly a jury function, and it is the province of the jury to pass upon the credibility of the witnesses and to apprise the weight of the evidence. <u>Nelson v. Ziegler</u>, 89 So.2d 780 (Fla. 1956); <u>Brookbank v. Mathieu</u>, 152 So.2d 526, 528 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963). Thus, in order for a directed verdict to be given by the court, there must be a <u>complete</u> absence of conflicting evidence and uncertainty. <u>Shaw v. Puleo</u>, 159 So.2d 641 (Fla. 1964).

Under our constitution it is for the jury to determine what is or what is not negligence in a particular case if there is a dispute, conflict, or uncertainty in the testimony and evidence, or if the facts are such that reasonable persons may fairly arrive at different conclusions. <u>Sterling v. Sapp</u>, 229 So.2d 850 (Fla. 1969). As aptly noted in <u>Hernandez v. Motrico, Inc.</u>, 370 So.2d 836 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979), "if there is room for a difference of opinion

between reasonable men as to the proof of facts from which an ultimate fact is sought to be established, or where there is room for differences as to the inferences that might be drawn from conceded facts, the matter should be submitted to the jury." [370 So.2d at 838]. With these principles firmly in mind, we shall now address Standard Havens' contention that the trial court erred in denying its motion for a directed verdict on liability.

(B)

Sufficient Evidence Was Presented At Trial To Establish Plaintiffs' Strict Liability And Negligence Claims

The duty of a manufacturer under Florida law is to exercise reasonable care in designing its product and providing instructions for use so as to eliminate "foreseeable dangers." In Florida, the concept of "foreseeability" is called into play at two separate levels of analysis, one relating to the duty element, and the other relating the causation element. As to the first level involving duty, this Court has stated:

				duty,							
				ppella							
				uct c							
				ther \cdot							
see	the	ទ	pec:	ific	in	jur	Y	tha	t	actu	ally
occu	irred.	•									

* * *

. . . Thus, <u>if there is any general and</u> foreseeable risk of injury . . ., the courts are not free to relieve the defendant of [its] duty.

Certainly, the [defendant] is entitled to give the fact-finder all available evidence about intervening causes, precautions taken against the risk, the fact that no similar injury has occurred in the past, and the comparative negligence of the plaintiff, among other matters . . . But, the mere fact that such evidence exists - even if it ultimately may persuade the fact-finder - does not relieve the [defendant] of its duty.

McCain v. Florida Power Corp., 593 So.2d 500, 504 (Fla. 1992). Accord, Powers v. Ryder Truck Rental, Inc., 625 So.2d 979 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); <u>Stazenski v. Tennant Co.</u>, 617 So.2d 344 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

The duty issue is thus resolved by determining whether the defendant manufacturer created a generalized and foreseeable risk of harm to others. In this case, the evidence established that the existence of a 12" to 18" opening in the screen panels placed above the auger located in the bottom of the v-shaped baghouse hopper constituted an unreasonably dangerous condition and a zone of risk as to all workers who utilized the screen panels as a walking surface during contemplated inspection and maintenance procedures. Thus, having created a zone of risk, the question the jury was called upon to determine was whether the creation of that zone of risk (the 12" to 18" opening) resulted from Standard Havens' failure to exercise reasonable care in designing and distributing its product. The jury had before it sufficient competent evidence to support its verdict that the 12" to 18" opening existed because of Standard Havens negligence, that Standard Havens had placed into the stream of commerce a defective and unreasonably dangerous product, and that such actions constituted a contributing legal cause of plaintiff's damages.

These liability findings by the jury are entitled to great weight, especially when one considers that its conclusions were

rendered in the face of a jury charge which instructed it that:

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